
i
I'

f

United Nations

GENERAL
ASSEMBLY
TWENTY·FIRST SESSION

Official Records

CONTENTS
Page

Agenda item 26:
Non-proliferation of nuclear weapons: report

of the Conference of the Eighteen-Nation
Committee on Disarmament (continued)
General debate (continued). • • • • • • • • • •• 117

Chairman: Mr. Leopoldo BENITES (Ecuador>.

AGENDA ITEM 26

Non-proliferation of nucfear weapons: report of the
Conference of the Eighteen-Nation Committee on
Disarmament (continued) (A/6390-DC/228, A/C.l/
L.371/Rev.l, A/C.l/L.372 and Add.l-3, A/C.l/
L.373, A/C.l/L.375)

GENERAL DEBATE (continued)

1. Mr. ARKHURST (Ghana) said that the Committee
had been quite right to give priority to the question
of non-proliferation. A treaty on non-proliferation
was an indispensable first step in the direc~ion of
nuclear disarmament. It was, naturally, disappoint
ing that the Conference of the Eighteen-Nation Com
mittee .on Disarmament had not been able to submit
an agreed text of a treaty to the General Assembly.
But the Eighteen-Nation Committee's work during
the past year was satisfactory and it should now
be encouraged to continue its efforts with greater
vigour.

2. The differences between the major nuclear Powers
on the subject of non-proliferation were still con
siderable. But, as they related to intermediate rather
than ultimate objectives, they did not seem to be
unbridgeable. The serious efforts now being made
by the United states and the Soviet Union to agree
on the basic terms of a treaty were particularly
encouraging. The non-aligned members of the Eight
een-Nation Committee also deserved credit for the
contribution they had made to the significant advances
already achieved.

3. Without security guarantees for the non-nuclear
States and without some assurance t~t ~t would
lead directly to nuclear disarmament and eventually
to complete disarmament, a treaty on non-prolifera
tion would not be acceptable to states which did

.not at present possess or desire nuclear capability,
and it would not be really effective. The treaty
should also contain provisions ensuring that there
were no loop-holes which any States· or group of
States could use to frustrate the objectives of non
proliferation through multilateral defence arrange
ment~. Above all, the treaty should be concluded

FIRST COMMITTn~ 1447th
MEETINC

Wednesday, 9 November 1966,
at 10.50 a.m.

NEW YORK

without delay. The international political situation
was far from stable as it was, and it would be
seriously aggravated if any more States were to
acquire nuclear capability or the control of nuclear
weapons. The fact that France and the People's
Republic of China were not represented in the Eight
een-Nation Committee was a serious handicap to
the negotiation of a universal treaty on non-prolifera
tion. But he hoped that France would soon decide
to take part in the negotiations and that the General
Assembly would invite the People's Republic of
China to play its legitimate role in all United Nations
bodies.

4. In the belief that the Eighteen-Nation Committee's
attention should be directed once again to the prin
ciples laid down in General Assembly resolution
2028 . (XX), his delegation had joined in sponsoring
draft resolution A/C.1/L.371/Rev.1, and hoped that
the Committee would adopt it unanimously. The
revised text seemed to take account of most of the
amendments submitted by Cameroon (A/C.1/L.373);
his delegation would also agree to the replacement
of the words "non-nuclear-weapon States" by the
words "other States" in operative paragraph 3, as
had been proposed in the second Cameroonian amend
ment.

5. On the other hand, he doubted whether the sug
gestion in the five-Power draft resolution (A/C.1/
L.372 and Add.1-3) was opportune at the present
moment. He fully understood the motives of the
delegations concerned and, like them, he was anxious
that a treaty on non-proliferation should guarantee
the security of non-nuclear states. He also recog
nized the important role which the non-nuclear
Powers could play in preventing the spread of nuclear
weapons and agreed that nuclear energy should be
devoted exclusively to peaceful purposes. But the
objectives referred to in the five-Power draft reso
lution could be achieved. only by the joint efforts
of nuclear and non-nuclear states. It would be better
to give the Eighteen·-Nation Committee a little more
time to complete its work satisfactorily. Any over
lapping efforts would further complicate an already
complex problem.

6. Mr. ROSSIDES (Cyprus) was dissapointed by the
Eighteen-Nation Committee's failure to reach agree
ment on a treaty on non-proliferation, or indeed
to achieve any tangible progress in disarmament.
The question of non-proliferation did not brook delay.

7. There was some consolation, however, i~ the
fact that certain non-nuclear countries had shown
commendable restraint in not seeking to become
nuclear Powers, although they were fully capable
of doing so and had, in some cases, been subject

,



',' ~ r
< • /

". .' /.
-: , . ~,' < "- <,., • < . . - .

~ ..

i
I

.f.
~.

I
".

security against the threat or use of nuclear weap
ons. The exact nature of the guarantees to be pro
vided should be determined by the body negotiating
the treaty.

11. The third principle in resolution 2028 (XX) was
indispensable. A treaty on non-proliferation should
be followed, first, by a comprehensive test ban
treaty, which the Disarmament Commission had
given equal priority in 1965; next, by a freeze on
the development of nuclear weapons; and then by a
cut-off in the production of nuclear weapons and a
reduction in stockpiles. General and complete dis
armament should always be the ultimate goal.

12. With regard to the fourth principle, he supported
the Japanese representative's proposal that IAEA
should be aSked to report to the General Assembly
on ways in which it could help to prevent prolifera
tion. The Netherlands representative's suggestion
for an enlargement of the !AEA safeguards system
was also a useful contribution, as was the recent
offer by Poland, Czechoslovakia and the German
Democratic Republic to accept IAEA safeguards
if the Federal Republic of Germany was prepared
to do likewise. To establish a genuine balance of
obligations, safeguards should be applied to reactors
in nuclear and non-nuclear countries alike. The
United States had already taken unilateral Initiatives
in that direction.

13. The fifth principle in resolution 2028 (XX) should
obviously be incorporated in a treaty on non-prolifera
tion, and he regretted only that progress towards
regional denuclearization during the past year had
been relatively limited. The Latin American coun
tries should be commended for their efforts; he
hoped that denuclearized zones would soon be estab
lished in that and other areas. Cyprus would not
accept nuclear weapons in any form, strategic or
tactical, and would under no circumstances permit
other States to place nuclear weapons on any part
of the island.

14. In 1963, after long years of laborious negotia
tions on nuclear testing, the Treaty banning nuclear
weapon tests in the atmosphere, in outer space and
under water had been concluded in a few days, once
the two major Powers involved had realized that
the right psychological moment had arrived and
that a treaty would be in their national interests
and in the interests of all mankind. Though it pro
vided for only a partial test ban, it had helped to
dispel anxieties and had been signed by more than
a hundred States. Similarly, if agreement were
reached on a simple instrument banning the pro
liferation of nuclear weapons, the existing apprehen-

'sions of the nuclear and non-nuclear Powers would
soon be allayed.

15. Mr. GARCIA ROBLES (Mexico) wished first to
report on the progress during the past year towards
the denuclearization of Latin America and then to
state his country's views on the non-proliferation
'of nuclear weaPQns on a world-wide scale.

16. At its third session, held at Mexico City from
19 April to 4 May 1966, the Preparatory Commis
sion for the Denuclearization of Latin America had
unanimously approved the text of a draft treaty.

General Assembly - Twenty-first Session - First Committee118

to considerable provocation. Moreover, the very
atmosphere in which the present discussions were
being conducted also gave ["'ounds for optimism.
The two major nuclear Powers seemed to be less
concerned than they had been at the last session
with the pI-oblem of possible loop-holes for pro
liferation through collective nuclear defence arrange
ments within military alliances. There were positive
signs, too, that the other major difference of opinion,
over safeguards and isnspection by the International
Atomic Energy Agency, could be settled without great
difficulty. The adoption of resolution 2149 (XXI) on
the preceding item had shown that the Committee
was almost unanimous in believing that a treaty on
non-proliferation should be concluded as a' matter
of priority, and at the 1445th meeting the Soviet
and United Kingdom representatives had renewed
their appeals for an immediate solution before any
developments outside the negotiations could make
agreement more difficult, or even impossible.

8. The Eighteen-Nation Committee was due to meet
in January 1967 to deal with the problem of disarma
ment in general, but by that time the momentum
towards agreement on non-proliferation might have
completely disappeared. Accordingly, the Eighteen
Nation Committee should be requested to reconvene
in New York immediately for the specific purpose
of preparing a draft treaty on non-proliferation,
and to report to the General Assembly befGre the
end of the present session. The signing of a treaty
during the present session would greatly enhance
the image of the United Nations in the twenty-first
year of its existence and would be a collective
contributton to the general endeavour to persuade
the secretary-General to allow himself to be nominated
for a further period of office.

9. Of the five principles enunciated in paragraph 2
of resolution 2028 (XX), the first, regarding the
elimination of possible loop-holes in a treaty, seemed
now to present fewer difficulties. His delegation
would have liked the treaty to include a provision
banning the transfer of nuclear weapons by one
nuclear Power to another, as well as to non-nuclear
states. But, to avoid delaying the conclusion of 'a
treaty, it would not insist on that proposal.

10. With regard to the second principle, the incor
poration in a treaty on non-proliferation of agree
ments on other collateral disarmament measures
would involve protracted delay, which was undesirable
at the present stage. The treaty should, however,
contain some form of commitment by the nuclear
Powers that they would proceed with determination
to seek agreement on other collateral measures
as part of a continuous and uninterrupted disarma
ment process. As a further safeguard, the treaty
could be reviewed at regular intervals. The concept
of national security based on armed force was mean
ingless in the nuclear age, but the fact remained
that the policies of Governments were still based
on out-dated concepts of material force. No effec
tive steps had y~t been taken in the direction of
nuclear disarmament and no collective security system
had yet been developed by the United Nations. In
the circumstances, it was only natural for the non
nuclear-and especially the non-aligned-countries
to require the nuclear Powers to guarantee their



t
l

119

!I See Official Records of the 'Disarmament Commission, Supplement
for 1966, document DC/228, annex I, sect. F.

25. As to the People's Republic of China, the Pre
paratory Commission had, in its resolution 12 (III)~

requested its Negotiating Committee, consisting of
representatives of Ecuador, Brazil and Mexico, "to
make informal inquiries, in the manner and by the
means it deems fit, to ascertain whether the Govern
ment of the People's Republic of China would' be
prepared to undertake to respect the legal instrument
on the denuclearization of Latin America". The

members of the Preparatory Commission, and they
would do their utmost to work out a complete treaty
that would be opened for signature at the Commis
sion's fourth session, to be convened at Mexico
City on 31 January 1967. Such a treaty, as the
Secretary-General of the United Nations had rightly
said in the introduction to his annual report on
the work of the Organization (A/6301/Add.1), "would
mark a considerable step forward both in the non
proliferation of nuclear weapons and in disarmament
generally" and could point the way to the denucleariza
tion of Africa and other areas.

23. He wished to express the views of the Govern
ment of Mexico on two basic aspects ofthe denucleari
zation of Latin America. The first was the question
of the co-operation of the nuclear Powers. At the
eighteenth session of the General Assembly, he had
given his delegation's views on the subject in the
First Committee (1333rd meeting). At the current
session, the secretary for External Relations of
Mexico, speaking in the Assembly's general debate
(1418th plenary meeting), had said that his delega
tion had never used the word "guarantee" when
referring to the co-operation of the nuclear Powers;
such co-operation would consist merely in respect
for a treaty concluded by a group of States in the
exercise of their sovereignty. In addition, his Govern
ment took it for granted that in their relationships
with the parties to the denuclearization treaty, the
nuclear Powers would fulfil their obligation under
a fundalI1-ental principle of the Charter to refrain
from the threat or use of force, and hence from
using or threatening to use nuclear weapons, the
most destructive force ever devised by man.

24. The official communications received by the
Preparatory Commission from the Governments of
the United States, France and the United Kingdom
indicated that those States were prepared to offer
their co-operation. The Soviet Minister for Foreign
Affairs had stated on 7 December 1964 that the Soviet
Government was prepared to undertake to respect
the status of any denuclearized zones that might
be created provided that the other nuclear Powers
gave the same undertaking. Furthermore, the Chair
man of the Council of Ministers of the Soviet Union
had proposed, in his message of 1 February 1966
to the Conference of the Eighteen-Nation Committee
on Disarmament,!! that the treaty on non-proliferation
should include a clause on the prohibition of the use
of nuclear weapons against non-nuclear States parties
to the treaty which had no nuclear weapons in their
territory. He was therefore confident that the Soviet
response would also prove favourable.

1447th meeting - 9 November 1966

20, Fourthly, articles 8 to 13 established a control
system, which provided for the submissionofperiodic
reports and special reports by the contracting parties
and for special inspections to be made under certain
circumstances. An important role in the control
system would be played by IAEA and its safeguards
system.

21. Lastly, no agreement had been reached at the
third session as to the entry into force of the pro
posed treaty. Article 23 therefore contained alter
native texts for consideration by Governments. Under
the first version, the treaty would enter into force
between the States which had :ratified it or acceded
to it on the date on which they deposited their re
spective instruments of ratification or accession,
and the agency established under article 4 would
begin to operate when eleven such instruments had
been deposited. Under the second version, the treaty
would enter into force only after certain require
ments had been complied with: ratification of' the
treaty by all Latin American States, formal guarantees
by all the nuclear Powers and agreement by all
States which had de jure or de facto international
responsibility for territories situated in the Western
hemisphere south of latitude 300 North.

22. Some 90 per cent of the draft treaty had already
been unanimously approved by the twenty-one States

18. Secondly, article 3 contained a very precise and
up-to-date definition of a nuclear weapon: "any
device which is capable of releasing nuclear energy
in an uncontrolled manner and is intended to be
used for military purposes". However, any instru
ment that might be used for the transport or pro
pulsion of the device was not included in the defini
tion if it was separable from the device and not an
indivisible part thereof.

19. Thirdly, articles 4 to 7 provided for the estab
lishment of an independent and fundamentally Latin
American agency, the Agency for the Denucleariza
tion of Latin America, with a General Conference
as its supreme organ and a secretariat headed by
a General Secretary, whose responsibilities would
be of an exclusively international character.

Since that text had been circulated to Member States
(A/6328 and Corr.1), he would confine himself at
present to commenting on five of the major questions
it dealt with.

17. First, article 1 stated the obligations of the
contracting parties in a most complete and precise
manner which seemed to be free from any loop
holes that would permit the proliferation of nuclear
weapons. The parties would undertake to "prohibit
and prevent in their respective territories" not
only the "testing, use, manufactur..:', production or
acqUisition by any means whatsoever of any nuclear
weapons", but also "the receipt, storage, installa
tion, deployment and any form of possession of any
nuclear weapon, directly or indirectly, by the parties
themselves, by anyone on their behalf or in any other
way" . They would also undertake "to refrain from
engaging in, encouraging or authorizing, directly or
indirectly, or in any way participating in the testing,
use, manufacture, production, possession of or
dominion over any nuclear weapon".

I
1: ~.

I

r .

~ .,

!
'r.
h .-'

I ..._-------.....- ..........- .......-.-,.,.-.,.... -.>. ..;..;..'....--.;'~,.<.- -'~'-"--



120 General Assembly - Twenty-first Session - First Committee

t.:

Negotiating Committee had made those inquiries
through a letter sent on 22 June 1966 by Mr. Eduardo
Espinosa y Prieto, Mexican Ambassador to the United
Arab Republic and former Ambassador to Poland,
to Mr. Wang Ping-nant Vice-Minister for Foreign
Affairs of the People's Republic of China and former
Ambassador to Poland. The reply of the Government
of the People's Republic of China had been trans
mitted to Mr. Espinosa y Prieto orally on 8 Augt: st
1966 by Mr. Huang Hua, Ambassador of the People's
Republic of China to the United Arab Republic. The
main points of that reply, as summarized in the
Negotiating Committee's report, were the following:
first, although the Government of the People's Re
public of China was sympathetic to the Latin American
countries' efforts to denuclearize their region t it
noted that all activities aimed at such denucleariza
tion were closely related to a resolution adopted
by the United Nations General Assembly at it eight
eenth session; secondly t since the United Nations
had violated the rights of the People's Republic of
China, the latter could not associate itself with
the activities of the United Nations and therefore
could not support the treaty for the denucleariza
tion of Latin America; thirdly t denuclearization of
the zones adjacent to the United States would be
useless so long as the United States maintained
nuclear weapons in its territory and at its Latin
American bases; and, fourthly, the People's Re
public of China still held the view of nuclear weap
ons it had expressed on 16 October 1964 on the
occasion of its first nuclear weapon test. It would
never be the first to use nuclear weapons; it was
convinced that a nuclear war could be prevented
if all peace-loving countries and peoples made joint
efforts to keep the peace; it proposed the conven
ing of a summit conference of all countries to dis
cuss the question of the complete prohibition and
total destruction of nuclear weapons and t as a first
step, to agree that the nuclear States and potential
nuclear States should undertake not to use nuclear
weapons against any State or any denuclearized
zone; and it was convinced that mant who had created
nuclear weapons, would be able to eliminate them.

26. The second basic aspect of the question on which
he wished to make Clear his Government's position
was that of the entry into force of the treaty. Mexico
believed that the treaty on the denuclearization of
Latin America deserved the unqualified and imme
diate participation of every Government in the region. ,
However, it respected the right of any other state
to hold a different view. There was a considerable
difference between the alternative texts relating to
the entry into force of the treaty. It might therefore
be desirable to refrain from making any substantive
provision in that regard in the draft treaty itself
and to seek, insteadt a largely procedural formula
which would enable all Governments to approve the
draft without prejudice to their respective positions
on the substantive question. The treaty could thus
be signed by the twenty-one member States and go
into effect as soon as the specified number of States
had ratified it.

27. Each signatory State would be free to decide
the time when the conditions it regarded as essential
for ratification had been met; those conditions might

perhaps be specified in statements made by each
country when it signed the treaty. So far as Mexico
was concernedt the only prerequisite was the general
constitutional requirement that the treaty must be
approved by the Mexican Senate.

28. Th:" scope of the treaty would be stated in its
provisi'Jns at the outset. It could be gradually ex
panded, however t as instruments of ratification were
deposited. Such an expansion had taken place in the
case of the Treaty banning nuclear weapon tests
in the atmosphere, in outer space and under water,
signed at Moscow on 5 August 1963, and would no
doubt take place also in the case of the proposed
treaty on non-proliferation. The treaty would then
stand, from the very date of its signature t as a
demonstration of Latin America's devotion to peace
and repudiation of any nuclear arms race. More
over, such a procedure would make it impossible
for any state, great or small, nuclear or non-nuclear,
continental or extracontinental t to have the right of
veto in a. matter in which the very survival of the
present and future generations of Latin America
might be at stake.

2,9. His Government agreed with statements made on
that subject by representatives of numerous member
States and observers at the third session of the
Preparatory Commission for the Denuclearization
of Latin America. For example, it shared the Chilean
view that the objectives and aspirations of the States
working for denuclearization should not be frustrated
by any requirement in the treaty itself which would
prevent or indefinitely postpone its entry into force;
it also shared the Netherlands view that it would be
regrettable if any LaUn American Republic or any
nuclear Power were able to prevent the desired
denuclearization by refusing to co-operate.

30. Turning to the question of the non-proliferation
of nuclear weapons on a world-wide scale, he said
that Mexico's views on the first of the five prin
ciples enumerated in General Assembly resolution
2028 (XX)-that the treaty should be void of any
loop-·holes-had been stated in the Eighteen-Nation
Committee. The two major nuclear Powers and
their allies would be principally responsible for
evolving a satisfactory formula. The non-nuclear
and non-aligned States should take that principle
for granted andt as stated in the joint memorandum
of 19 August 1966 of the eight non-aligned mem
bers of the Eighteen-Nation Committee, Y "draw
attention to the usefulness of clearly defined terms
in order to prevent any misunderstanding or con
tradictory interpretation now or in the future".

31. Two of the principles enunciated in resolution
2028 (XX) were non-controversial. The principle
that the treaty should be a step towards the achieve
ment of general and complete disarmament and,
more particularly, nuclear disarmament had become
axiomatic for nuclear and non-nuclear States. It
was also agreed that there should be acceptable
and workable provisions to ensure the effectiveness
of the treaty; in their joint memorandum the eight
non-aligned countries had stated that" the treaty should
be subject to periodic reviews.

y Ibid•• sect. P.

r
1\
I

..
r
.
.,

'.

i
I
i.

..,



1447th meeting - 9 November 1966 121

-.';,
/

,.
!

,.

/

L

32. He found it necessary to comment more fully
on one of the five principles which was of particular
concern to the non-nuclear States: the principle that
the treaty should embody an acceptable balance of
mutual responsibilities and obligations of the nuclear
and non-nuclear Powers. That principle reflected
the need to attain two separate objectives at the same
time. In the first place, the proliferation of nuclear
weapons should be halted immediately by a voluntary
decision by the non-nuclear States to refrain from
manufacturing or acquiring nuclear weapons, which
would complement the undertaking by the nuclear
States not to transfer such weapons in any way.
In the second place, that decision should not result
in the perpetuation of a situation in which certain
States had a monopoly and were at a military advan
tage. In their memorandum the eight non-aligned
countries had reaffirmed their conviction that a treaty
should be coupled with or followed by tangible steps
to halt the nuclear arms race and to limit, reduce
and eliminate the stocks of nuclear weapons and the
means of their delivery. Those tangible steps did
not have to be taken simultaneously with the con
clusion of a treaty and they were not a prerequisite
for its signature. When such a treaty was concluded,
however, the nuclear Powers should make formal
declarations of their intention to pursue negotiations
with a view to taking such steps. It would be even
better if the declarations could be incorporated in
the treaty, as had been done in the case of the partial
test ban treaty. The extension of that treaty to cover
underground tests of nuclear weapons would be one
of the greatest incentives to the conclusion of a
treaty on non-proliferation. The ultimate objective
should, as stated in General Assembly resolution
808 (IX), be the total prohibition of the use and
manufacture of nuclear weapons and weapons of mass
destruction of every type. But, unless steps were
taken to halt the spread of nuclear weapons, there
would be no hope of eliminating them and the threat
they posed to human life.

33. States would have to abandon the traditional ideas
of prestige and security and seek the common good
of all mankind. The Mexican delegation agreE3d with
the Indian representative's remarks (1443rd meeting)
to the effect that the prestige attached to the posses
sion of nuclear weapons should be progressively
reduced and that nuclear weapons did not bring
security. It believed that the prestige conferred by
nuclear weapons was a macabre prestige. The General
Assembly had declared, in resolution 1653 (XVI),
that the use of nuclear and thermonuclear weapons
was a war directed not against an enemy or enemies
alone, but also against mankind in general and that
any State using such weapons was to be considered
as Violating the Charter of the United Nations, as
acting contrary to the laws of humanity and as com
mitting a crime against mankind and civilization.

34. Security could hardly be strengthened by the
proliferation of nuclear weapons. That would increase
the risk of a universal conflagration and involve all
the dangers of a nuclear arms race, in which the
developing countries would be especially vulnerable.
As the representative of Ceylon had stated (1445th
meeting), renunciation of nuclear weapons actually

protected a country's security because its neigh
bours would not then be prompted to acquire such
weapons.

35. The security of nations would ultimately have
to be guaranteed within the framework of the United
Nations. It would be necessary to complete and
bring up to date the provisions of the Charter and
to create the necessary organs. In the meantime,
the non-nuclear States were entitled to demand from
the nuclear Powers a formal undertaking that they
would not use or threaten to use nuclear weapons
against them. That undertaking would represent simply
the application to nuclear weapons of the obligation
embodied in Article 2, paragraph 4, of the Charter.
The Mexican delegation therefore attached special
importance to operative paragraph 4 of draft reso
lution A/C.1/L.371/Rev.1. It should be possible to
include such an undertaking in the text of the treaty
on non-proliferation; one of the two major nuclear
Powers had already submitted a draft article on the
subject to the Eighteen-Nation Committee.

36. Two basic points should be borne in mind when
considering the question of nuclear explosions for
peaceful purposes: first, the nuclear device used
in such explosions was, at least at the moment,
made by the same production methods and was
basically the same as a nuclear weapon, and, secondly,
the non-nuclear States could not accept a permanent
position of inferiority and be denied the benefit,S
of the new techniques. Any solution should therefore
satisfy the legitimate desires of the non-nuclear
States and be an effective obstacle to proliferation.
The best course in the immediate future might per
haps be to study the possibility of making an inter
national agency, preferably IAEA, responsible for
the preparation and conduct of nuclear explosions
for peaceful pu:oposes. IAEA could enlist the co
operation of one or other of the nuclear Powers in
certain specific tasks performed under its authority
and supervision and, if necessary, entrust the study
of aspects most directly related to the actual nuclear
device to a small group with the same member
ship as the Military Staff Committee.

37. During the twentieth session of the Assembly.
the Mexican delegation had expressed the view, at
the 1369th meeting of the First Committee, that
nothing in the treaty to be concluded should in any
way affect the right of any group of States to con
clude regional treaties in order to ensure the total
absence of nuclear weapons in their territories. That
\riew had been favourably received by the other non
aligned countries and had been included in resolu
tion 2028 (XX) as the last of the five main principles.
Mexico had submitted a draft article on the subject
to the Eighteen-Nation Committee. It now reiterated
the view, expressed by the eight non-aligned Powers
in their joint memorandum of 19 August 1966, t~lllt

there would be no difficulty in inclUding a provision
on that subject in the text of &. treaty on non-prolifera
tion. Canada, Italy. Poland and the Soviet Union
had also expressed support for such a provision.

38. The Latin American and African States would
be encouraged in their efforts to achieve the denu
clearization of their continents by the terms of



General Assembly - Twenty-first Session - First Committee
t SUI .
,
t

ULI!JEL

122

& $it : £.i £ S£! Jj . £2ii£U .id 2 £Ji Jm"iiflli j]L2 L.. a J2i ; J Lit iUn·.··-- .,.. •

operative paragraph 3 of draft resolution A/C.1/
L.371/Rev.1.

39. The conclusion of a treaty on non-proliferation
was at present the best that could be hoped for on
a world-wide basis. In the future, however, it would
be denuclearization treaties such as the one planned
for Latin America, designed to perpetuate a total
absence of nuclear weapons, under effective inter
national control, which would ensure a world free
from nuclear weapons and from the danger of a
universal nuclear holocaust.

40. Mr. MAVOUNGOU (Congo, Brazzaville) said that
in the pres0nt international situation, when the United.
states was waging an aggressive war in Viet-Nam
in flagrant violation of the accepted principles of
international law, the United Nations should learn
from the experience of the League of Nations, whose
failure to reach agreement on partial or compreilen
sive disarmament measures had led to the outbreak
of the Second World War, with all its disastrous
consequences.

41. The question of disarmament should not be con
sidered in isolation, but in the wider context of the
maintenance of international peace and security. A
treaty on the non-proliferation of nuclear weapons
would be an important first step in the direction of
world disarmament and, in view of the urgent need
for a treaty, the Committee had been right to give
priority to agenda item 97, proposed by the USSR
delegation. In the introduction to his annual report
(A/6301/Add.1) , the Secretary-General had given a
striking illustration of the dangers inherent in the
proliferation of nuclear weapons. Every effort should
be made to facilitate the early conclusion of a treaty
on non-proliferation, which would certainly help to
reduce tension throughout the world.

42. He welcomed the assurance given by the repre
sentatives of the two major nuclear Powers that the
remaining obstacles to agreement were not insur
mountable and that progress was indeed being made.
Like a number of other representatives, he believed
that the treaty should prohibit vertical as well as
horizontal p:coliferation and should not be designed
merely to perpetuate the monopoly of the existing
nuclear Powers. He agreed with the views expressed
by the eight non-aligned members of the Eighteen
Nation Committee in their memorandum of 19 August
1966. The treaty should include amultilateralguaran
tee by the nuclear Powp.rs not to use nuclear weap
ons against States which did not possess such weap
ons or had renounced the right to acquire them.
The African States, whose decision to declare Africa

Litho in U.N.

a denuclearized zone had been endorsed by the General
Assembly in resolution 2033 (XX), welcomed the
assurance given in that connexion by the Chairman
of the Council of Ministers of the USSR, in his mes
sage of 1 February 1966 to the Eighteen-Nation
Committee,Y that the Soviet Government would re
spect the status of any denuclearized zones which
might be established, provided that the other nuclear
Powers were prepared to do the same.

43. Although the establishment of denuclearized zones
in Africa, Asia arid Latin America would considerably
facilitate the conclusion of a treaty on non-prolifera
t.;.on, it would not help to solve the general problem
9f disarmamp.nt. The use of conventional weapons
in the zones concerned should also be prohibited;
conventional weapons were equally lethal in the
hands of major Powers deploying their immense
resources against small and peaceful countries.
Consequently, serious attention should be given in
the negotiations on nuclear disarmament and col
lateral measures to the dismantling of foreign mili
tary bases and the withdrawal of foreign troops
from the territories of other States. Military bases
in the territories of other States were a constant
source of international tension, as they were used
for direct intervention in the domestic affairs of
States and for the suppression of national ItberaticJn
movements.

44. The problems of disarmament and denucleariza-·
tion could not be solved without the participation
of the People's Republic of China, which had recently
given further evidence of its independent nuclear
capability. The People's RepUblic of China should
have its legitimate rights restored, since a treaty
on non-proliferation would be doomed to failure
without its participation. He hoped too that France
would soon resume its place in the Eighteen-Nation
Committee.

45. If disarmament could be achieved, the immense
resources wasted 0n the armaments race could be
used for nobler purposes, and particularly to help
the under-developed two thirds of mankind to im
prove their lot.

46. As one of the sponsors of draft resolution A/
C.1/L.371/Rev., his delegation was prepared to con
sider favourably any amendments likely to clarify
the issues raised.

Tlle meeting rose at 1.5 p.m.

y ~.. sect. F.

77101-August 1967-2.150

I(
I




